
 
 
 
7th June 2022 
 
 
 
MEETING OF CLIMATE AND CITY RESILIENCE COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Dear Alderman/Councillor 

 

The above-named Committee will meet in the Council Chamber and remotely via 

Microsoft Teams on Thursday, 9th June, 2022 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the 

business noted below. 

 

You are requested to attend. 

 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
JOHN WALSH 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
AGENDA: 
 
1. Routine matters   
 
 (i) Apologies   

 
 (ii) Minutes   

 
 (iii) Declarations of Interest   

 
2. Presentation from Lisa-Dee Collery of the Shared Island Unit followed by Q&A  

(Pages 1 - 14) 
 
3. Belfast Stories update including Geothermal Feasibility Study  (Pages 15 - 22) 
 
4. Belfast Net Carbon Roadmap Report  (Pages 23 - 54) 
 
5. Recap on suggestions for future meetings   
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Prepared by the Department of Public 
Expenditure and Reform
gov.ie/2040

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Overview

Chapter 17:

Page 2



investments to enhance the shared island and address 
common strategic concerns including on balanced 

provide a strong basis for delivery on strategic 

17.1 Policy Context 

Delivery to Date

• Investment in transport infrastructure in border 

• 

• 

• Support for the North-West Strategic Growth 

• 

• 

• Establishment of the Shared Island Fund with 

projects are being made alongside funding from 

investment approaches with the Northern Ireland 

• Establishment of a new North South Research 

• 

• 

by the Government to deliver this cross-border 

• 

how the rail network can improve sustainable 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 3



17.2 
All–Island partnerships 

common strategic challenges for the island as a 

North/South partnership

Shared Island 

All-island 
partnerships

prosperous island
Coordinated investment and 

regionally-balanced and 

connected island

to enable balanced regional 

 

investment to protect the common 
environmental resources of the 

climate crisis and biodiversity 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 4



Box 17.1:

We need to plan and invest for a shared future 

labour market on an all-island basis to maximise 

investment across the island - including by 

and deliver joint and coordinated investments 

approach to planning and investment on a shared 

between Ireland and Northern Ireland also provides 

programme of support for cross-border working 

for considerable alignment of public investment 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 5



• take up advantages of investment at scale at an 

• 

• 

• coordinate and enhance transport and other 

connected to public investment and wider economic 

In progressing NDP Shared Island investment 

reviewed NDP provide a framework for building on 

on tackling climate breakdown and the biodiversity 

coordinated investments that deliver on shared 

in support of the peace process and peace and 

valuable forum for East-West engagement between 

sharing experience and planning on public investment 

Box 17.2: North West 
Strategic Growth Partnership

brings together Donegal County Council and 

the Irish Government and Northern Ireland 

and co-ordinate resources and regional policy 
development for sustainable growth in the North 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 6



Box 17.3: Irish Central 

with outstanding natural environment and an 

• Core infrastructure projects including road 

• 
enhancing the sustainable tourism and well-

development of a network of cross-border 

• Enabling infrastructure to harness the region’s 

economy and agri-food sectors and sub-

Cross-border local authority regional development 

the reviewed NDP were developed taking account of 

to sustainable development on a cross-border 

underpinned by broad stakeholder engagement 

work of cross-border local authority partnerships and 

Box 17.4: East Border Region

one of the longest established local authority-led 

• 

• 

• 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 7



Box 17.5: Dublin Belfast 
Economic Corridor

create a stronger and broader-based trajectory 

• 

• Developing regional networks and clusters for 
regional or sub-regional strengths including 

• Working on enabling infrastructure including 

• 

17.3 Shared Island investment 

In line with our NDP Shared Island investment 

cross-border public investment projects to achieve a 

Available funding streams include the Shared Island 

1. A more connected island

Box 17.6:
Healthier island
As we emerge from the biggest public health 

redoubling our commitment to deepening and 

including all-island provision of paediatric cardiac 
surgery in Dublin and cross-border provision of 

value of both health services working closely 

together develop an overarching strategy for 

health services are available on the island for all 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 8



 
for a more connected island

• 

• 
developing all-island ecosystem in digital 

• Provide specialist health services on an all-

• 

health and social care service delivery and the 

seaboard through greenway projects across the 

all-island strategic rail review to be completed in 

Road infrastructure improvements to support 

to share experience and resources in early 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 9



infrastructure resonates an architectural 

do so working in North-South partnership and 

such as the Riverine Community Park in Strabane 

• 

• 

• Protect and develop the Irish language and 

through the North South language bodies and 
funding commitments for the Irish language in 

2. A more sustainable island 

challenges of climate breakdown and the biodiversity 

Box 17.7: Joined-up 

across the island of Ireland

Green Deal will shape Ireland’s approach to 
addressing climate change and environmental 

and Wildlife Service and other agencies will 
work in close partnership with their Northern 

stakeholders on the island - for the necessary 

vehicle and other sustainable transport networks 
and renewable energy infrastructure are strategic 

coordinated all-island approaches including on 

marine and coastal environment and biodiversity 

Project Ireland 2040

Page 10



Project Ireland 2040

 
for a more sustainable island

management and water infrastructure and support 

the Shared Island Fund for approved projects 

• 
which will enhance the performance of the 

• 

• Coordinated investment to roll-out Electric 

Coordinated investment to conserve cross-border 

valuable ecosystem services and act as carbon 

3. A more prosperous island

we can have greater impact on the key drivers of 

are pillars for sustainable growth on the island 

Government will work for a more regionally-balanced 

Box 17.8:
future of Higher, and Further 

that serve and contribute to society across the 

enterprises and wider society to interact across 

and research sectors that will meet the needs and 

Page 11



Project Ireland 2040

 
for a more prosperous island

• 
infrastructure of the North West region in 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Enterprise Development Funds and work through 
the Regional Enterprise Plans to promote and 
facilitate enterprise development on a cross-

Infrastructure investments to support all-island 

sustainable development of the Agri-Food sector 

tourism into the island of Ireland to promote the 

the sustainable growth of the sector including 

Page 12



Project Ireland 2040

Box 17.9: EU PEACE 
programmes - partnership 
for peace, prosperity and 

support peace and prosperity across Northern 

building upon the work of the preceding PEACE 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
CLIMATE AND CITY RESILIENCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 

Subject: Belfast Stories – Update including shallow geothermal feasibility 
study  

Date: 09 June 2022 

Reporting Officer: Wendy Langham, Programme Director, Belfast Stories  

Contact Officer: Richard Treacy, Energy and CO2 Manager, Physical Programmes 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

- Update Members on the Belfast Stories (BS) programme as part of the Belfast 

Region City Deal. 

- Provide Members with an update on the ambition for net zero including the findings 

from the Belfast Stories shallow geothermal feasibility study.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to:  

- Note the contents of this report. 

- Receive a presentation and update on the net zero ambitions for Belfast Stories. 

- Note the findings from the shallow geothermal feasibility study. 

- Following the presentation, discuss and agree the next steps. 

 

 x 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



 

 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

Members will be aware that Belfast Stories is the Council’s flagship project under the 

Belfast Region City Deal and is due to open in 2028.  Located in the city centre on a 

strategic site of 5,000sqms with the estimated indoor space 8,500sqms and outdoor space 

2,500sqms. Several important milestones in relation to the project have been achieved 

including the acquisition of the site for Belfast Stories in October 2021, the signing of the 

Deal Document for the BRCD and the Belfast Stories press announcement in December 

2021.  

 

Strategic Policy and Resources Committee agreed at its meeting on 19th November 2021 

to progress a number of key pieces of work, in order to meet the 2028 anticipated opening 

date including the appointment of the integrated design team and the exhibition design 

team and to progress the Belfast stories collection.  

 

A progress update was provided to CG&R Committee 11th May 2022 including the thematic 

Story Collection Framework and plans for engagement including a public consultation 

August – October 2022. 

 

Included in the work programme was the completion of shallow geothermal energy 

feasibility study and presentation on the findings from this study was made to the Climate 

and Resilience Board on 5th May 2022. 

e. 

Belfast Stories aspires to be a sustainable, net zero carbon exemplar for the city and region, 

at the forefront of environmentally sensitive design, minimising energy consumption and 

maximising the potential for enhancing biodiversity, on-site energy generation and 

sustainable transport. The design process which underpins the development therefore 

requires early consideration of the elements relating to best practice that will support this 

ambition. 

 

4.0 

4.1 

 

 

 

4.2 

 

 

 

Net Zero ambitions 

In August 2021 council officers arranged a site visit with key stakeholders to QUB’s new 

Riddell Hall extension to educate and inform us on the potential use of geothermal energy 

for further consideration by the Belfast Stories team.  

 

This visit and subsequent interactions with geothermal experts and other energy advisors 

led to the consideration of energy sources for Belfast Stories to see how it could meet the 

goals and ambitions outlined within the Future Proofed City Ambitions Document: A Climate 

Plan for Belfast (Dec 2020). Within the plan, Belfast Stories is named as a standalone 

Page 16



 

 

 

 

 

4.3 

 

 

 

 

4.4 

 

 

 

 

4.5 

 

 

 

4.6 

 

 

 

4.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.8 

 

 

 

 

4.9 

 

 

project (No. 26) with the potential to be ‘a bold demonstration of intent on Belfast’s ambition 

to be a net zero emissions, climate-resilient city’.  

 

Belfast Stories is currently in the process of procuring the Integrated Design Team. Various 

sustainability assessments and standards are being considered to ensure the design will 

support the intent and ambition. These include BREEAM, Passivhaus and One Planet 

Living.  

 

BREEAM is the world's leading sustainability assessment method for master planning 

projects, infrastructure and buildings. It recognises and reflects the value in higher 

performing assets across the built environment lifecycle, from new construction to in-use 

and refurbishment. 

 

Passivhaus is a performance-based set of design criteria for very low-use energy buildings, 

which can help create buildings which use around 90% less energy than standard UK 

buildings. 

 

One Planet Living is a vision of a world where we can live happily within our one Earth's 

resources and is a simple framework that may be suitable for the project’s operational 

phase.   

 

In October 2021 the Climate and Resilience Board supported the commissioning and 

appointment of suitably qualified consultants to undertake a feasibility study for the further 

consideration of the use of geothermal energy solutions. The study was to: 

- Establish local thermogeological, geological, hydrogeological setting. 

- Determine opportunities / limitations for ground-based site energy. 

- Explain the operational concept of ground sourced solutions. 

- Compare options over a 30-year lifecycle. 

- Undertake a data gap analysis and consider any regulatory issues to be addressed.  

 

TetraTech Environmental Planning (NI) Limited (TetraTech) was commissioned by the 

Council in December 2021 to deliver the contract. The Executive Summary of the report 

findings is attached in Appendix A. The report concludes that Geothermal is a viable option 

for the site. A closed loop geothermal solution is preferred to an open loop system.  

 

A number of assumptions have been made given the early stage of project design. It is 

possible to consider other developments of similar size and scale and make some 

assumptions at this stage. It should be noted this is a starting point on a journey towards 

Page 17



 

 

 

 

 

4.10 

consideration of the suitability of geothermal energy for Belfast Stories alongside other 

renewable energy options.  

 

In summary the report concludes that:  

- The site has suitable geological/hydrological/thermogeological properties for a 

shallow geothermal scheme. 

- A closed loop geothermal system is the preferred solution when compared with 

other heating and cooling solutions.  

- The CO2 emissions (TCO2) saving is est. 950 tonnes over a 30-year period. 

- The capital cost (CAPEX) is more expensive than air to water est. +£1m (as would 

be expected).  

- A closed loop geothermal system provides potential operational expenditure 

(OPEX) savings over a 30-year period compared to air to water est. 500k. 

 

5.0 

5.1 

 

 

 

 

5.2 

 

 

 

 

5.3 

 

 

 

 

5.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Next Steps  

In identifying the suitability, cost-benefit and environmental considerations of geothermal 

energy sourcing, it needs to be outlined at the outset that the Belfast Stories energy 

consumption requirements are not yet known due to the project being at an early stage of 

development (RIBA 0/1).   

 

The Integrated Design Team (IDT) scope of works and specification will outline the 

Council’s ambition for the project to be a net zero exemplar for the city. The IDT will be 

required to include a sustainability expert within the team. The IDT is due to be appointed 

by the end 2022. 

 

It is proposed that BREEAM is the sustainability assessment to be included within the IDT 

specification with the aspiration of the project to be ‘outstanding’.  

The Geothermal Feasibility Study will be made available to the successful IDT for their 

consideration.  

 

As highlighted the capital cost of a geothermal energy solution is more expensive than 

other options.  Consideration of opportunities to secure additional capital funding including 

Peace Plus are ongoing. There is a potential Peace Plus opportunity for funding under 

Theme 5.5 Geothermal Energy Demonstration Programme. A meeting was held in 

February regarding a funding bid, Chaired by Codema (Dublin’s Energy Agency). The 

potential bid being considered is for 2 deep geothermal and 2 shallow geothermal projects, 

with 1 of each on each side of the border. The shallow geothermal project being considered 

north of the border is Belfast Stories. The total potential amount of funding is €20 million 

Page 18



 

 

 

 

 

5.5 

 

 

for all 4 projects. The Peace Plus Call is expected in Jul-22 with an award made in Oct-22. 

The funding is to be spent before 2030.  

 

Prior to BCC committing to be part of a Peace Plus bid, a full report would be brought to 

SP&R Committee for their consideration.  

6.0 Financial and Resources Implications 

None 

7.0 Equality or Good Relations Implications /Rural Needs Implications 

None 

 Appendices 

 Appendix A: Belfast Stories – Shallow Geothermal Feasibility Study Executive Summary 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Belfast Stories – Shallow Geothermal Feasibility Study                                             787-B032894                      

  

  iv  April 2022 
 

Executive Summary 

Background & 

Project Description 

Belfast City Council (BCC) are developing a new build flagship tourism and visitor 
experience centre (Belfast Stories) in central Belfast. To align with Belfast City Council’s 
(BCC’s) Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast and their Resilience Strategy published 
in December 2020, BCC commissioned a study to look at the potential for using 
geothermal technology to meet the buildings heating and cooling requirements.  
 
An assessment of the site with respect to its potential to use ground source shallow 
geothermal technology has been completed. No detailed design for the development was 
available at the time of this study preparation, however a concept layout for the site and 
development was available from which an initial building model was developed. This 
enabled Tetra Tech to complete an initial assessment of the buildings heating and cooling 
requirements. The work also permitted an initial comparison of heating and cooling 
technologies for the site.  

Site Setting 

The site is located at the junction of Royal Avenue and North Street in central Belfast, 
Northern Ireland. The site has been partially cleared of previous buildings. The former 
Bank of Ireland building remains and its entrance fronts onto Royal Avenue. It is expected 
that the former bank building will be retained and integrated into the Belfast Stories 
development. Other more modern buildings are also present along this side, some of 
which may also be retained.   

Geological/Hydroge

ological 

/Thermogeological 

Setting 

The site sits within the Lagan Valley, it is underlain by 10-25m of unconsolidated 
superficial deposits, below which lies the Sherwood Sandstone aquifer (bedrock), The 
bedrock is expected to reach thicknesses of several hundred metres below the site. The 
Sherwood Sandstone is a significant aquifer resource which has the potential to sustain 
large abstractions. The aquifer has a long history of use supporting many different 
industries, including public water supply, large private water supplies (Belfast Hospitals, 
QUB) and more recently geothermal. Available information for the Sherwood Sandstone 
bedrock indicates it has favourable thermal properties, and has good heat transfer 
capability compared to many other bedrock types in Northern Ireland.  

Technology Options 

Assessment 

The site setting is such that a range of established ground source heating and cooling 
options are potentially viable. These options include open loop – which involves 
physically pumping groundwater from the underlying aquifer and subsequently 
discharging groundwater back into the ground. A closed loop solution is considered 
potentially viable. This involves the connection of heat pumps to the ground via pipework 
installed in boreholes and/or piles.  Each option has implications for the building design. 
Further site investigation and or modelling would be required once the buildings heating 
and cooling requirements are better understood (i.e. once a design has been developed).  
This will then all BCC to confirm the viability of each option or establish the maximum 
contribution that each technology could make to the buildings overall heating and cooling 
requirements. The investigations and modelling will also allow BCC to refine the carbon 
savings and CAPEX/OPEX costs presented in this initial feasibility assessment. The 
outcome of the financial and carbon analysis completed as part of this study shows that, 
in principle, ground source heat pumps are a viable option for the site. A geothermal 
solution has the potential to provide significant carbon reductions and boasts competitive 
operational costs when compared to alternative technologies on the market today.  

Conclusions 

Geothermal is a viable option for the site. A closed loop geothermal solution is preferred 
for the site relative to an open loop system. Ground investigation work and modelling will 
be required. The data gathered from this work can be used to inform a geothermal design 
for Belfast Stories once the building heating and cooling demands have been derived.  
 
CO2 
Based on the data available and the assumptions made during the preparation of this 
feasibility assessment, a closed loop geothermal system comes out on top as a low 
carbon solution when compared to other heating and cooling solutions (30 year emission 
estimate: Gas 1241 tC02, Biomass/gas 711 tC02, Geothermal 284 tC02 and Air Source 
346 tCO2).  
 
For geothermal this equates to a C02 saving compared to Gas of 957 tC02 over 30 years. 
 
This option would align with BCC’s Resilience Strategy and Net Zero Carbon Road map. 
 
 

Page 21



Belfast Stories – Shallow Geothermal Feasibility Study                                             787-B032894                        

  v  April 2022 

 

However, on the grounds of CAPEX and OPEX costs over a 30-year period, a closed 
loop geothermal system is more expensive.  
 
CAPEX 
For CAPEX the derived geothermal estimate cost of £1.45M compares to Gas – £0.21M, 
Biomass/gas – £0.34M and Air Source £0.47M.  
 
OPEX 
For OPEX the geothermal estimate cost of £1.6M compares to Gas – £1.38M, 
Biomass/gas – £1.46M and Air Source £2.16M.  
 
 
Based on the estimates made, the geothermal solution is therefore c.£13,300 per annum 
(on average) more costly over a 30 year period compared to the next lowest CO2 
emission technology of Air Source (air to water).  

 

Page 22



1 
 

  

 
 

CLIMATE AND CITY RESILIENCE COMMITTEE  
 
 
 

Subject: Belfast Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap 

Date: 12 May 2022 

Reporting Officer: Debbie Caldwell 

Contact Officers: Richard McLernon 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an overview of the Belfast Net-Zero 

Carbon Roadmap, which was commissioned for Belfast through the Place Based Climate 

Action Network (PCAN) and which is attached for information.   

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee are asked to adopt the recommended emissions reduction targets for Belfast 

as set out in the Belfast Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap, which are: 

 

66% by 2025 

80% by 2030 

88% by 2035 

93% by 2040 

 

 

 

 

 

X
X
X 

X  

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

97% by 2045 

100% by 2050 

 

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

A Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast - Setting Science-Based Carbon Reduction 

Targets for Belfast. 

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) argued that from 2020, keeping 

within a global carbon budget of 344 gigatonnes (i.e. 344 billion tonnes) of CO2 emissions 

would give us a 66% chance of limiting average warming to 1.5ºC and therefore avoiding 

dangerous levels of climate change. 

The Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap analysis divides this global figure up on an equal basis by 

population and adjusts the budget to consider other gases that contribute to climate change, 

which gives Belfast a total carbon budget of c.14 megatonnes over the period between the 

present and 2050. 

At the current rate of emissions output, Belfast would use up this budget in just over a 

decade at some point during the winter of 2030. However, Belfast could stay within its 

carbon budget by reducing its emissions by c.8.4% year on year. This would mean that to 

transition from the current position where emissions are 42% lower than 2000 levels to a 

local pathway that is consistent with the world giving itself a 66% chance of avoiding 

dangerous, runaway climate change, Belfast should adopt the following carbon reduction 

targets (on 2000 levels): 

66% by 2025 

80% by 2030 

88% by 2035 

93% by 2040 

97% by 2045 

100% by 2050 

3.2 

 

Adopting these targets supports a number of initiatives to address the climate emergency 

that Council declared in October 2019, including Belfast’s annual report to the Carbon 

Disclosure Project (CDP), the development of the City Climate Plan, and aligns with the draft 

NI Climate Change Bill which sets a target of Net-Zero for Northern Ireland by 2050.  

The Belfast Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap makes a series of recommendations in relation to 

sectors and identifies buildings and transport as the largest source of Scope 1 and 2 

emissions in Belfast.  

Page 24



3 
 

4.0 Financial & Resource Implications 

 

4.1 Members are asked to note that meeting the recommended targets will require significant 

additional investment at the city level which to a large extent will depend on the policies, 

proposals and sectoral plans developed by Northern Ireland departments as well as the 

resources made available to support decarbonisation projects. Accordingly, the production of 

the city climate plan will be accompanied by the development of a city climate investment 

plan.  

5.0 Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Implications  

 

5.1 None 

 

6.0 Appendices – Documents Attached 

 

6.1 Belfast Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP 
FOR BELFAST
Andy Gouldson, Andrew Sudmant, Jessica Boyd, Robert Fraser Williamson, John Barry & Amanda Slevin 

BELFAST
CLIMATE
COMMISSION

Page 27



Please reference as:

Gouldson, A., Sudmant, A., Boyd, J.,  
Williamson, R., Barry, J., and Slevin, A. (2020)

A Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast, 
Belfast Climate Commission/ 
Place-Based Climate Action Network.

Contact

a.gouldson@leeds.ac.uk

a.sudmant@leeds.ac.uk

robert@williamsonrc.com

j.barry@qub.ac.uk

a.slevin@qub.ac.uk

https://pcancities.org.uk

https://belfastclimate.org.uk

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

CONTENTS

Preface 4

Belfast Carbon Roadmap: Pathway to Net-Zero 6

Executive Summary	 8

Introduction 12

Our Approach	 14

(a) Measuring an Area’s Carbon Footprint 14

(b) Developing a Baseline of Past, Present and Future Emissions 14

(c) Setting Science-Based Carbon Reduction Targets 15

(d) Identifying and Evaluating Carbon Reduction Opportunities 15

(e) Aggregating Up to See the Bigger Picture 16

(f) Developing Targets and Performance Indicators 17

(g) Focusing on Key Sectors 17

Developing a Baseline of Past, Present and Future Emissions for Belfast	 20

Setting Science-based Carbon Reduction Targets for Belfast	 22

Aggregating Up: The Bigger Picture for Belfast	 24

Developing Targets and Performance Indicators	 30

Focusing on Key Sectors for Belfast	 32

(a) Domestic Housing 34

(b) Public & Commercial Buildings 36

(c) Transport 38

(d) Industry 40

Innovative Stretch Measures for Belfast	 42

Next Steps for Belfast	 44

Appendix 1: League Table of the Most Carbon-Effective Options for Belfast	 46

Appendix 2: League Table of the Most Cost-Effective Options for Belfast	 48

Place-Based Climate Action Network (PCAN)	 50

Partnerships 51

2 3

P
age 28



A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

PREFACE

Background

Belfast signed its climate emergency declaration 
in October of 2019, and is due to set a target 
date in 2021 for the city to reach net-zero 
emissions. Produced by the ESRC Place-Based 
Climate Action Network for the Belfast Climate 
Commission, this net-zero roadmap is designed  
to feed into Belfast’s deliberations on its target 
date for net-zero, and to inform how it can  
work towards an ambitious target in the  
coming years, including through the adoption  
of a green recovery programme. 

Policy Change and the Need to Deliver

In June 2019, the UK Government passed 
legislation with a commitment to reach net-zero 
emissions by 2050. The Northern Ireland Assembly 
declared a climate emergency in February of 2020. 

At the local level, 2019 saw a wave of local 
climate emergency declarations, with many 
local authorities setting their own, usually more 
ambitious targets to reach net-zero emissions. 
By February 2020, 68% of UK district, county, 
unitary and metropolitan councils including  
3 authorities in Northern Ireland had declared 
a climate emergency*. It is clear though that 
declaring a climate emergency is just the first 
step – declarations need to be turned into action 
plans, and these need to be delivered before we 
can claim to have responded effectively. 

Covid and a Green Recovery  

Clearly the world changed dramatically with the 
Covid pandemic. From a climate perspective, 
the first, and we hope main phase of national 
lockdown in the spring and early summer of 2020 
did reduce our carbon footprint for a short period 
– and it triggered some changes in our behaviour 
that could help us in the longer term – but we 
clearly need a more positive way of addressing 
the climate challenge in the context of a healthy, 
inclusive and vibrant city. 

This roadmap shows how in the years to come 
Belfast could apply some guiding principles for 
a green recovery – to go faster, to build better, 
to think bigger, to be bolder - to radically reduce 
its carbon footprint whilst also becoming a 
better place, with cleaner air, improved public 
health, reduced poverty and inequality, increased 
employment and enhanced prosperity. 

John Barry and Grainia Long, Co-Chairs,  
Belfast Climate Commission

*Source: https://www.climateemergency.uk/

Belfast Climate Commission 

The Belfast Climate Commission was 
established in 2020 to support the city to make 
positive choices on issues relating to energy, 
carbon, weather and climate. Members of the 
Commission are drawn from key organisations 
and groups across the city from the public, 
private and civic sectors.

The Belfast Climate Commission is an 
independent voice in the city, providing 
authoritative advice on steps towards a low 
carbon, climate resilient future to inform policies 
and shape the actions of local stakeholders and 
decision makers. It monitors progress towards 
meeting the city’s carbon reduction targets, 
recommends actions to keep the city on track and 
advises on the assessment of the climate-related 
risks and adaptation opportunities in the city and 
on progress towards climate resilience.

The Commission aims to foster collaboration on 
projects that result in measurable contributions 
towards meeting the city’s climate reduction 
targets and the delivery of enhanced climate 
resilience. It promotes best practice in public 
engagement on climate change in order to 
support robust decision-making and acts as a 
forum where organisations can exchange ideas, 
research findings, information and best practice.

https://www.belfastclimate.org.uk

4 5

P
age 29



BELFAST
CLIMATE
COMMISSION

BELFAST CARBON ROADMAP
PATHWAY TO NET-ZERO*

*Net-zero, like “carbon neutral”, refers to achieving an overall balance between emissions produced and emissions taken out of the atmosphere, with any residual emissions removed through carbon sinks.

BACKGROUND

1.5ºC
The level of global 
temperature rise 
�at which we risk 
triggering dangerous 
climate change

2030
The point at which  
- at current rates -  
the world will have 
locked into more  
than 1.5ºC of  
warming

GLOBAL TO LOCAL

14m
tonnes
Belfast’s share of the  
global carbon budget  
(to keep to 1.5ºC  
of warming)

Belfast is emitting

1.5m
tonnes
of carbon a year. At this  
rate, we will have used 
up our budget by

2030

BASELINES 
AND TARGETS

42%
The decline in Belfast’s carbon 
emissions since 2000 

This needs to be 
increased to

66% by 2025

80% by 2030
100% by 2050

Belfast has  
committed to work  
towards being

CARBON 
NEUTRAL
by

2050
That leaves a big gap  
but we can close it by 
the following options

COST-EFFECTIVE
OPTIONS

Cost-effective  
options such as

better housing 
and transport 
could close the 
2030 gap by

35%

These would reduce  
Belfast’s energy bill by

£263m
per year, and would create nearly

4,779
years of extra 
employment 

MORE AMBITIOUS
OPTIONS

More ambitious but  
expensive options could

close the 
2030 gap by

51%
These would  
have benefits for 
health, equality,  
travel and the 
environment

Doing all of the above leaves a  

41%
shortfall to reach by

2050

REACHING OUR
TARGET

Belfast can close the  
gap by

100% 
by 2033
through a range of

INNOVATIVE 
INTERVENTIONS

These include

decarbonising heating � 
and planting trees - 
changing some behaviours 
and consumption habits 
would take us further still

Net Zero

6 7

P
age 30



A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

•	 Scientific evidence calls for rapid reductions 
in global carbon1 emissions if we are to limit 
average levels of warming to 1.5°C and so 
avoid the risks associated with dangerous  
or runaway climate change. 

•	 Globally, the Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) suggests that we will 
have used up the global carbon budget that 
gives us a good chance of limiting warming to 
1.5°C degrees within a decade. This science 
underpins calls for the declaration of a  
climate emergency.

•	 Dividing the global carbon budget up by 
population gives Belfast a total carbon budget 
of 14 million tonnes from 2020. Based only 
on the fuel and electricity used within its 
boundaries, Belfast currently emits c.1.5 million 
tonnes of carbon a year, and as such it would 
use up its carbon budget by 2030.

•	 This assessment does not include its  
broader carbon footprint – for example  
relating to longer distance travel or the  
goods and services that are produced 
elsewhere but consumed within Belfast  
(i.e. its Scope 3 emissions).

Baselines and Targets

•	 Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions from  
Belfast have fallen by 42% since the turn of 
the Millennium. With on-going decarbonisation 
of grid electricity, and taking into account 
population and economic growth within the city 
region, we project that Belfast’s 2000 level of 
annual emissions output will have fallen by  
a total of 51% in 2050. 

•	 If it is to stay within its carbon budget, Belfast 
needs to add to the emissions reductions 
already achieved to secure 66% reductions on 
its 2000 level of emissions by 2025, 80% by 
2030, 88% by 2035, 93% by 2040, 97% by 
2045 and 100% by 2050. In short, the majority 
of all emissions reductions across the city need 
to be delivered within the next ten years.

•	 Without further activity to address its carbon 
emissions, we project that Belfast’s annual 
emissions will exceed its carbon budget by  
1.4 million tonnes in 2030, and 1.3 million 
tonnes in 2050.

1For simplicity, we use the term “carbon” as shorthand for all greenhouse gases, with all figures in this report relating to the carbon 
dioxide equivalent (CO2e) of all greenhouse gases unless otherwise stated. Note that our assessment therefore differs from other 
assessments that focus only on CO2. 

Cost-Effective Options

•	 To meet these carbon reduction targets, 
Belfast will need to adopt low carbon options 
that close the gap between its projected 
emissions in future and net-zero emissions. 
This can be partially realised through cost-
effective options that would more than pay for 
themselves through the energy cost reductions 
they would generate whilst generating wide 
social and environmental benefits in the area. 

•	 More specifically, the analysis shows that 
Belfast could close the gap between its 
projected emissions in 2050 and net-zero 
emissions by 35% purely through the adoption 
of cost-effective options in houses, public and 
commercial buildings, transport and industry. 

•	 Adopting these options would reduce Belfast’s 
total projected energy bill in 2050 by £263 
million per year whilst also creating 4,779 
years of employment in the city. They could 
also help to generate wider benefits, including 
helping to tackle fuel poverty, reducing 
congestion and productivity losses, improving 
air quality, and enhancements to public health. 

•	 The most carbon-effective options for the city 
to deliver these carbon cuts include improved 
deep retrofitting of heating, lighting and 
insulation in houses, cooling and insulation in 
offices, shops and restaurants, and a range of 
measures across the transport sector including 
modal shift to non-motorised transport and the 
wider up-take of electric vehicles. 

More Ambitious Options

•	 The analysis also shows that Belfast could close 
the gap to net-zero emissions in 2050 by 51% 
through the adoption of options that are already 
available, but that some of these options would 
not pay for themselves directly through the 
energy savings that they would generate. Many 
of these options would, however, create wider 
indirect benefits both economically and socially 
in the city.

•	 This means that although it can achieve 
significant reductions in emissions by focusing 
on established cost-effective and technically 
viable measures, Belfast still has to identify other 
more innovative interventions that could deliver 
the last 41% of shortfall between projected 
emissions in 2050 and a net-zero target. 

•	 Options identified elsewhere that could be 
considered in Belfast include promoting the 
use of low carbon vehicles, electrification of 
heating and cooking, and planting trees. Carbon 
emissions could be cut further still through 
behavioural and consumption-based changes 
such as the promotion of active travel (e.g. 
walking and cycling), reductions in meat and 
dairy consumption and the generation of food 
waste, and reduced consumption of concrete 
and steel with more emphasis on green 
infrastructure.

•	 The scale of activity and investment needed to 
reach or even get close to the carbon emissions 
reduction targets set is significant. We find that 
across the city, many hundreds of thousands 
of homes and square-metres of floorspace will 
require retrofitting and widespread changes will 
be needed in the travel patterns and the way that 
people travel.

8 9

P
age 31



10 11

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Next Steps

•	 Belfast needs to adopt a clear and ambitious 
climate action plan. The case for the adoption 
of such a plan is supported by the evidence 
that much – but not all – of the action that  
is required can be based on the exploitation  
of win-win low-carbon options that  
will simultaneously improve economic,  
social and health outcomes across the city.

•	 The climate action plan should adopt  
science-based targets for emissions  
reduction. As well as longer term targets,  
it should include five-yearly carbon  
reduction targets. 

•	 The action plan should focus initially  
on Belfast’s direct (Scope 1 and 2) 
carbon footprint as these emissions are  
most directly under the city’s influence,  
but in time it should also widen its  
scope to consider its broader (Scope 3)  
carbon footprint.

•	 The action plan should also set out the ways 
in which Belfast will work towards achieving 
these science-based targets, drawing on  
the deployment KPIs listed in this report.  
Action should also be taken to monitor and 
report progress on emissions reductions. 

•	 It is important to stress that delivering on these 
targets will require action across the city and 
the active support of the public, private and 
third sectors. Establishing an independent 
Belfast Climate Commission has already helped 
to draw actors together and to build capacities 
to take and track action. 

•	 Driven by the Belfast Climate Commission, 
leadership groups should be formed for key 
sectors such as homes, public and commercial 
buildings, transport and industry, to develop 
clear plans for the delivery of priority actions 
in each sector. All large organisations and 
businesses in the city should also be asked to 
match broader carbon reduction commitments  
and to report back on progress.

P
age 32



12

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

INTRODUCTION

Climate science has proven the connection between the concentration of greenhouse 
gases in the atmosphere and the extent to which the atmosphere traps heat and so leads 
to global warming. The science tells us – with a very high level of confidence – that such 
warming will lead to increasingly severe disruption to our weather patterns and water and 
food systems, and to ecosystems and biodiversity. Perhaps most worryingly, the science 
predicts that there may be a point where this process becomes self-fuelling, for example 
where warming leads to the thawing of permafrost such that significant quantities of 
greenhouse gases are released, leading to further warming. Beyond this point or threshold, 
the evidence suggests that we may lose control of our future climate and become subject 
to what has been referred to as dangerous or “runaway” climate change. 

Until recently, scientists felt that this threshold 
existed at around 2ºC of global warming, 
measured as a global average of surface 
temperatures. However, more recent scientific 
assessments (especially by the IPCC in 2018) 
have suggested that the threshold should instead 
be set at 1.5ºC. This change in the suggested 
threshold from 2ºC to 1.5ºC has led to calls for 
targets for decarbonisation to be made both 
stricter (e.g. for the UK to move from an 80% 
decarbonisation target to a net-zero target, 
which it did in 2019), and to be brought forward 
(e.g. from 2050 to 2030, which the UK has not 
done, although many local authorities and other 
places have set themselves this ambitious goal).

Globally, the IPCC suggests that from 2020  
we can only emit 344 billion tonnes of CO2 if we 
want to give ourselves a 66% chance of avoiding 
dangerous climate change. We are currently 
emitting over 37 billion tonnes of CO2

 every year, 
which means that we will have used up our  
global carbon budget within a decade. It is 
this realisation – and the ever accumulating 
science on the scale of the impacts of climate 
change – that led to calls for organisations and 
areas to declare a climate emergency and to 
develop and implement plans to rapidly reduce 
carbon emissions. 

13

P
age 33



14 15

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

OUR APPROACH

(a). Measuring an Area’s Carbon Footprint

Any area’s carbon footprint – measured in terms 
of the total impact of all of its greenhouse gas 
emissions – can be divided into three types of 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

•	 Those coming from the fuel (e.g. petrol, diesel 
or gas) that is directly used within an area and 
from other sources such as landfill sites or 
industry within the area. These are known  
as Scope 1 emissions. 

•	 Those coming from the electricity that is 
used within the area, even if it is generated 
somewhere else. These are known as  
Scope 2 emissions. Together Scope 1 and 
2 emissions are sometimes referred to as 
“territorial” emissions.

•	 Those associated with the goods and services 
that are produced elsewhere but imported and 
consumed within the area. After taking into 
account the carbon footprint of any goods  
and services produced in the area but that  
are exported and consumed elsewhere,  
these are known as Scope 3 or  
consumption-based emissions. 

In this report2 we focus on Scope 1 and 2 
emissions, and exclude consideration of  
long-distance travel and of Scope 3 or 
consumption-based emissions. We do this 
because Scope 1 and 2 emissions are more 
directly under the control of actors within an 
area, and because the carbon accounting and 
management options for these emissions are 
better developed.

We stress though that emissions from longer 
distance travel (especially aviation) and 
consumption are very significant, and also  
need to be addressed.

(b). Developing a Baseline of Past, Present 
and Future Emissions

Having a baseline of carbon emissions is key 
to tracking progress over time. We use local 
authority emissions data to chart changes in 
emissions from 2005 to 2018. We also break this 
down to show the share of emissions that can be 
attributed to households, public and commercial 
buildings, transport and industry. 

We then project current emissions levels for the 
period through to 2050. To do this, we assume 
on-going decarbonisation of electricity in line with 
government commitments and a continuation of 
background trends in a) economic and population 
growth, and b) energy use and energy efficiency. 
Specific numbers for the key variables taken into 
account in the forecasts are presented in the 
technical annex published separately. As with 
all forecasts, the level of uncertainty attached 
increases as the time period in question extends. 
Even so, it is useful to look into the future to 
gauge the scale of the challenge to be addressed 
in each area, especially as it relates to the 
projected gap between the forecasted emissions 
levels and those that are required if an area’s 
emissions are to be consistent with a global 
strategy to limit average warming to 1.5ºC.

(c). Setting Science-Based Carbon 
Reduction Targets 

To set science-based carbon reduction targets 
for an area, we take the total global level of 
emissions that the IPCC suggests gives us a 66% 
chance of limiting average levels of warming to 
1.5ºC, and divide it according to the share of the 
global population living in the area in question. 
This enables us to set the total carbon budget for 
an area that is consistent with a global budget. 
To set targets for carbon reduction, we then 
calculate the annual percentage reductions from 
the current level that are required to enable an 
area to stay within its overall carbon budget. 

(d). Identifying and Evaluating Carbon 
Reduction Opportunities 

Our analysis then includes assessment of the 
potential contribution of approximately 130 
energy saving or low carbon measures for: 

•	 Households and for both public and 
commercial buildings (including better 
insulation, improved heating, more efficient 
appliances, some small scale renewables)

•	 Transport (including more walking and 
cycling, enhanced public transport, electric  
and more fuel efficient vehicles) 

•	 Industry (including better lighting, improved 
process efficiencies and a wide range of other 
energy efficiency measures). 

We stress that the list of options that is assessed 
may not be exhaustive; other options could be 
available and the list can potentially be expanded. 

For the options included, we assess the costs  
of their purchase, installation and maintenance, 
the direct benefits (through energy and fuel 
savings) of their adoption in different settings and 
their viable lifetimes. We also consider the scope 
for, and potential rates of deployment of each 
option. This allows us to generate league tables of 
the most carbon- and cost-effective options that 
could be deployed within an area. 

It is important to note that we base the analysis 
on current capital costs, although future costs and 
benefits are adjusted for inflation and discounting 
factors. This could be overly cautious if costs fall 
and benefits increase as some options become 
more widely adopted, or if the costs increase 
as the rates of deployment increase. It is also 
important to note that, although we consider 
the employment generation potential of different 
options, we do not consider the wider indirect 
impacts of the different options relating to their 
social, economic or environmental implications. 

Beyond the range of currently available  
options, we also consider the need for more 
innovative or “stretch” options to be developed  
and adopted within the area if it is to meet  
its carbon reduction targets. These need to  
be developed in each area, but the some of  
the ideas for innovative options identified 
elsewhere include targeting a full transition  
to net-zero homes and public/commercial buildings 
by 2030, promoting the rapid acceleration of 
active travel (e.g. walking and cycling), tackling 
food waste, reducing meat and dairy consumption 
and reducing concrete and steel consumption/
promoting adoption of green infrastructure. 

2 Further details of the data, assumptions and methodology are set out in a separate technical annex that is available at  
https://pcancities.org.uk/reports.

P
age 34



16 17

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

OUR APPROACH

(e). Aggregating Up to See the  
Bigger Picture

Based on this bottom up analysis of the potential 
for different options to be adopted within the 
area, we then aggregate up to assess the 
potential for decarbonisation within that area, 
and the costs and benefits of different levels of 
decarbonisation. We then merge the aggregated 
analysis of the scope for decarbonisation with 
the baseline projections of future emissions to 
highlight the extent to which the gap between  
the projected and required emissions levels  
that can be met through different levels and 
forms of action.

To break this gap down, we merge interventions 
into three broader groupings: 

•	 Cost-Effective (CE) options where the  
direct costs of adoption are outweighed by 
the direct benefits that they generate through 
the energy savings they secure, meaning the 
portfolio of measures as a whole has a positive 
economic impact in present value. These 
options may also generate indirect benefits,  
for example through job creation, fuel poverty 
and improved air quality and public health. 

•	 Cost-Neutral (CN) options where the portfolio 
of interventions mentioned above is expanded 
to consider investments that may not be as 
cost effective on their own terms, but where 
the range of measures as a whole will have 
near-zero net cost.

•	 Technical Potential (TP) options where the 
direct costs are not (at present) covered by 
the direct benefits. However, the cost of many 
low carbon options is falling quickly, and again 
these options could generate important indirect 
benefits such as those listed above. 

As it is unlikely that adopting all of the  
cost-effective or even technically viable  
options will enable an area to reach net-zero 
emissions, we also highlight the need for a  
fourth group of measures:

•	 Innovative or “stretch” options that include 
low-carbon measures that are not yet widely 
adopted. Some of the options within this group 
may well be cost- and carbon-effective, and 
they may also generate significant indirect 
benefits, but whilst we can predict their carbon 
saving potential, data on their costs and 
benefits is not yet available. 

(f). Developing Targets and  
Performance Indicators

Linked to the analysis detailed above, we extend 
our evaluation of potential emissions reductions 
across Belfast’s economy to substantive,  
real-life indicators for the levels of investment  
and deployment required to achieve targets. 
These Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)  
illustrate the scale of ambition required to  
reach the emissions savings presented in 
the Technical Potential scenario and are 
disaggregated by sector.

(g). Focusing on Key Sectors

As well as presenting an aggregated picture,  
we also focus on the emissions saving potential 
in the housing, public and commercial buildings, 
transport, and industry sectors. We focus in  
on overall investment needs and returns, and 
present more detailed league tables of the  
most carbon- and cost-effective options that 
could be adopted in each sector. 

P
age 35



18 19

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

DEVELOPING A BASELINE OF 
PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE 
EMISSIONS FOR BELFAST

Analysis shows that Belfast’s baseline (Scope 1 and 2) emissions have fallen by 42% since 2000,  
due to a combination of increasingly decarbonised electricity supply, structural change in the  
economy, and the gradual adoption of more efficient buildings, vehicles and businesses. 

With full decarbonisation of UK electricity by 2045, and taking into account economic growth  
(assumed at 1.5% p.a.), population growth (assumed at 0.1% p.a.) and on-going improvements  
in energy and fuel efficiency, we project that Belfast’s baseline (Scope 1 and 2) emissions will  
only fall by a further 6% by 2030, 10% by 2040, and 11% by 2050. This is a total of just over  
51% between 2000 and 2050. 

Figure 1: Belfast’s Scope 1 and 2 Carbon Emissions (2000-2050) 

Currently, 39% of Belfast’s emissions come from the domestic housing sector, with transport responsible 
for 20% of emissions, public and commercial buildings for 24% and industry 18%. Emissions related  
to land use contribute c.0.5% and are not considered technically in this report. By 2050, under BAU,  
we project emissions from transport will decrease very slightly (still producing c.19%) with a significant  
11% increase in the proportion of emissions from housing. Small decreases are forecast in the proportion 
of emissions from public and commercial buildings and industry, largely as a result of expansion in the 
output of the domestic buildings sector over this period.

Figure 2: Belfast’s Present and Projected Emissions by Sector

P
age 36



20 21

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

DEVELOPING A BASELINE OF PAST, 
PRESENT AND FUTURE EMISSIONS 
FOR BELFAST

Related to this emissions baseline, after evaluating the range of energy sources Belfast consumes 
(spanning electricity, gas, all solid and liquid fuels across sectors) we find that in 2019, £296 million was 
spent on energy across the city. Transport fuels generated the majority of this demand (52%), followed by 
domestic buildings (30%) then public and commercial buildings and industry (15% and 3% respectively).  
By projecting demand and energy prices into future with reasonable baseline assumptions over 
population, inflationary measures and efficiency gains across the economy, we find that Belfast’s 
business-as-usual (BAU) energy expenditure will likely grow to just over £332 million per year in 2030 
and c.£466 million per year in 2050, with transport expenditure growing slightly (53%) in Belfast’s total  
(see Figure 3 below). 

Figure 3: Belfast’s Present and Projected Energy Expenditure by Sector 

P
age 37



2322

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

SETTING SCIENCE-BASED 
CARBON REDUCTION TARGETS 
FOR BELFAST

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that from 2020, keeping within a 
global carbon budget of 344 gigatonnes (i.e. 344 billion tonnes) of CO2 emissions would give us a 66% 
chance of limiting average warming to 1.5ºC and therefore avoiding dangerous levels of climate change. 
If we divide this global figure up on an equal basis by population, and adjust the budget to consider other 
gases that contribute to climate change, this gives Belfast a total carbon budget of c.14 megatonnes over 
the period between the present and 2050. 

At current rates of emissions output, Belfast would use up this budget in just over a decade at some point 
during the winter of 2030. However, Belfast could stay within its carbon budget by reducing its emissions 
by c.8.4% year on year. This would mean that to transition from the current position where emissions 
are 42% lower than 2000 levels to a local pathway that is consistent with the world giving itself a 66% 
chance of avoiding dangerous, runaway climate change, Belfast should adopt the following carbon 
reduction targets (on 2000 levels):

66%
by 2025

80%
by 2030

88%
by 2035

93%
by 2040

97%
by 2045

100%
by 2050

Such a trajectory would mean that the majority of all carbon cuts needed for Belfast to transition  
to a 1.5ºC consistent pathway need to be delivered by 2030.

Figure 4: Belfast’s Baseline and Science-Based-Target Emissions Pathways

P
age 38



24 25

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

AGGREGATING UP: THE BIGGER 
PICTURE FOR BELFAST

a) Emissions reductions

Our analysis predicts that the gap between the Belfast business-as-usual (BAU) emissions in 2050 and 
the net-zero target could be closed by 41% (513 ktCO2e) through the adoption of Cost-Effective (CE) 
options, by a further 11% (139 ktCO2e) through the adoption of additional Cost-Neutral (CN) options at 
no net cost, and then by an additional 7% (93 ktCO2e) through the further adoption of all technically 
viable (TP) options. This means that Belfast still has to identify the innovative or stretch options that could 
deliver the last 41% (512 ktCO2e) of the gap between the business-as-usual scenario and net-zero in 
2030 following science-based targets (SBT).

Table 1: Belfast’s Potential Five-Year Emissions Reduction Percentages

b) The most carbon- and cost-effect options

Figure 6 (see p26) presents the emissions savings that could be achieved through different groups of 
measures in Belfast. Appendices 1 and 2 present league tables of specific measures and their potential 
emissions savings over this period.

Figure 5: Belfast’s BAU Baseline with Cost-Effective (CE), Cost-Neutral (CN), & Technical Potential (TP) Scenarios

P
age 39



26 27

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

AGGREGATING UP: THE BIGGER 
PICTURE FOR BELFAST

Figure 6: Simplified Emissions Reduction Potential by Measure for Belfast 

Simplified league tables of the most cost- and carbon-effective options in Belfast are presented below  
(see Appendices 1 & 2 for more detailed league tables).

Table 2: Belfast’s Top Ten Most Cost-Effective Emission Reduction Options

Table 3: Belfast’s Top Ten Most Carbon-Effective Emission Reduction Options

P
age 40



28 29

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

AGGREGATING UP: THE BIGGER 
PICTURE FOR BELFAST

Some of the ideas for innovative options identified elsewhere, that could also be considered for Belfast, 
include targeting a full transition to net-zero homes and public/commercial buildings by 2030, promoting 
the rapid acceleration of active travel (e.g. walking and cycling), tackling food waste, reducing meat 
and dairy consumption and reducing concrete and steel consumption/promoting adoption of green 
infrastructure. These are highlighted at the end of our report (“Innovative Stretch Measures for Belfast”).

c) Investment needs, paybacks and employment creation

Exploiting the cost-effective options in households, public and commercial buildings, transport, industry 
and waste could be economically beneficial. Although such measures would require total investments of 
around £1.6 billion over their lifetimes (equating to investments of £160m a year across all organisations 
and households in the city for the next decade), once adopted they would reduce Belfast’s total energy 
bill by £286 million p.a. in 2050 whilst also creating 4,779 years of employment (239 full-time jobs for 
20 years). 

By expanding this portfolio of measures to at no net cost to Belfast’s economy (the Cost-Neutral 
scenario), investments of £4 billion over their lifetimes (or £400m a year for the next decade)  
would generate 11,751 years of employment (587 full-time jobs for 20 years) whilst reducing  
Belfast’s emissions by 52% of projected 2030 levels. 

Exploiting all technically viable options would be more expensive (at least at current prices,  
c.£5 billion or £500m a year for the next decade) but realise further emissions savings – eliminating  
59% of the projected shortfall in Belfast’s 2050 emissions, whilst saving hundreds of millions of pounds 
on an annual basis.

Table 4: Potential Five-Year Investments and Energy Expenditure Savings

Table 5: Potential Investments by Sector & Economic Scenario

Table 6: Potential Job Creation by Sector & Economic Scenario

P
age 41



30 31

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

DEVELOPING TARGETS AND 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

To give an indication of the levels of activity required to deliver on these broader targets, the tables below 
detail total deployment across different sectors in Belfast through to 2050. We also give an indication of 
the rate of deployment required in the city if it is to even come close to its climate targets. These lists 
are not exhaustive, and also apply by measure; any one building or industrial facility will usually require 
the application of several measures over the period. These figures effectively become Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) for the delivery of climate action across the city. 

Domestic Homes

Table 7 (a): Belfast’s Sectoral Emissions Reduction KPIs for Domestic Homes

Public & Commercial Buildings

Table 7 (b): Belfast’s Sectoral Emissions Reduction KPIs for Public & Commercial Buildings

Transport

Table 7 (c): Belfast’s Sectoral Emissions Reduction KPIs for Transport

P
age 42



32 33

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

FOCUSING ON KEY SECTORS 
IN BELFAST

Figure 8: Belfast’s Emissions Reduction Potential By Sector & Economic Scenario (2020-2050)

At full deployment (technical potential) across Belfast, we calculate that there is potential to  
avoid 21 MtCO2e in emissions that will otherwise be produced in the city between 2020 and 2050.  
The domestic sector will contribute most significantly toward this total, with a decarbonisation potential  
of between 6 MtCO2e (cost-effective scenario) and 9 MtCO2e (technical potential) through the period. 

However, transport, industry and public and commercial buildings also play a major role; upgrading 
and retrofitting of Belfast’s built environment (including public and commercial sectors) could reduce 
emissions by up to 5 MtCO2e over the same period at full technical potential, with transport similarly 
showing the potential to decarbonise over 5 MtCO2e under the same conditions. 

Figure 7: Belfast’s Emissions Reduction Potential (2020-2050) by Sector

P
age 43



34 35

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

FOCUSING ON KEY SECTORS  
IN BELFAST

In the following section summaries of the emissions reduction potential and economic implications of 
investment are presented for the four main sectors. For display and continuity purposes, each sector is 
displayed with a summary of the same metrics: (1) emissions reduction potential over time in the three 
economic scenarios, (2) five-year totals for cumulative emissions savings, investment requirements and 
annual energy expenditure reductions, and (3) a simplified table of the most cost-effective low carbon 
measures applied in each sector across Belfast.

(a). Domestic Housing

Figure 9: Housing BAU Baseline with Cost-Effective, Cost-Neutral and Technical Potential Scenarios

Table 8: Housing Emissions Reductions, Expenditure Savings and Investment Levels

Table 9: The Most Cost-Effective Measures for Housing

P
age 44



36 37

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

FOCUSING ON KEY SECTORS 
IN BELFAST

(b). Public & Commercial Buildings

Figure 10: Public and Commercial Buildings BAU Baseline with Cost-Effective, Cost-Neutral and Technical 
Potential Scenarios

Table 10: Public and Commercial Buildings Emissions Reductions, Expenditure Savings and Investment Levels

Table 11: The Most Cost-Effective Measures for Public and Commercial Buildings

P
age 45



38 39

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

FOCUSING ON KEY SECTORS 
IN BELFAST

(c). Transport

Figure 11: Transport BAU Baseline with Cost-Effective and Cost-Neutral Scenarios3

Table 12: Transport Emissions Reductions, Expenditure Savings and Investment Levels

Table 13: The Most Cost-Effective Measures for Transport

3 Due to the high inherent cost effectiveness of many transport modal shift options, the TP scenario has been removed and emissions 
pathways are covered by CE and CN only.

P
age 46



40 41

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

FOCUSING ON KEY SECTORS 
IN BELFAST

Figure 12: Industry BAU Baseline with Cost-Effective, Cost-Neutral and Technical Potential Scenarios

Table 14: Industry Emissions Reductions, Expenditure Savings and Investment Levels

Table 15: The Most Cost-Effective Measures for Industry

4 For display purposes interventions in industry have been aggregated here into process type.

P
age 47



42 43

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

INNOVATIVE STRETCH 
MEASURES FOR BELFAST

Even with full delivery of the broad programme of cross-sectoral, city-wide low carbon investment 
described above, there remains an emissions shortfall of 41% between Belfast’s 2050 BAU baseline and 
the net-zero target. Here we briefly consider the productivity of certain key technologies and interventions 
that may well be able to plug this gap into the future. Many of these so-called “stretch options” are 
innovative by nature but they will be required to reach Belfast’s targets in future. 

Table 16: Decarbonising Potential of Stretch Measures (*Sequestration Values)

Figure 13 below shows the impact that the adoption of these stretch measures would have on Belfast’s 
carbon emissions, with the black dotted line showing the business-as-usual baseline, the red dotted 
line showing emissions after adoption of all technically viable options and the grey dotted line showing 
emissions after all technically viable and stretch options. This indicates that Belfast would still have some 
residual emissions through to 2050. For illustration, the grey shaded area shows that in theory Belfast 
could offset its residual emissions through a UK based tree planting scheme; however this would require 
the planting of 62 million trees, which even with the densest possible planting would require 14000 
hectares of land, equivalent to 122% of the total land area of the city.

Carbon emissions could be cut further still through with the adoption of behavioural and consumption-
based changes such as the promotion of active travel (e.g. walking and cycling), reductions in meat and 
dairy consumption and the generation of food waste, and reduced consumption of concrete and steel, 
with more emphasis on green infrastructure. Such consumption-based changes – which would impact  
on the broader Scope 3 carbon footprint of the city – will be the focus of future work.

Figure 13: Sectoral Emissions Shortfall Reduction with Stretch Measures

P
age 48



44 45

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

NEXT STEPS FOR BELFAST

Based on the analysis presented here we 
recommend that if Belfast wants to stay within 
its share of the global carbon budget, it needs to 
adopt a clear and ambitious climate action plan. 

The case for the adoption of such a plan  
is supported by the evidence that much –  
but not all – of the action that is required can 
be based on the exploitation of win-win low 
carbon options that will simultaneously improve 
economic, social and health outcomes across  
the city.

A climate action plan for Belfast should adopt 
science-based targets for emissions reduction, 
including both longer term targets and five-yearly 
carbon reduction targets. 

The action plan should focus initially on  
Belfast’s direct (Scope 1 and 2) carbon footprint  
as these emissions are most directly under the 
city’s influence, but in time it should also widen  
its scope to consider its broader (Scope 3)  
carbon footprint.

The action plan should clearly set out the ways in 
which Belfast will work towards achieving these 
targets, drawing on the deployment KPIs listed in 
this report. Action should also be taken to monitor 
and report progress on emissions reductions. 

It is important to stress that delivering on these 
targets will require action across the city and 
the active support of the public, private and 
third sectors. 

Establishing an independent Belfast Climate 
Commission is helping to draw actors together 
and to build capacities to take and track action. 

It is important to stress that delivering on these 
targets will require action across the city and 
the active support of the public, private and third 
sectors. The Belfast Climate Commission is acting 
as a critical friend to the city, helping to promote 
stakeholder engagement and build buy-in and 
a sense of common ownership for the climate 
action plan, as well as in supporting, guiding and 
tracking progress towards its delivery. 

For the future, Belfast Climate Commission 
can help to establish leadership groups for key 
sectors such as homes, public and commercial 
buildings, transport and industry, and to prepare 
clear plans for the delivery of priority actions in 
each sector. Working with other Commissions 
in the Place-Based Climate Action Network, 
Belfast Climate Commission can also support 
the development of low carbon projects and 
programmes and the preparation of a low carbon 
investment prospectus to encourage new forms 
of climate finance to accelerate the city’s low 
carbon transition. 

P
age 49



46 47

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

APPENDIX 1. LEAGUE TABLE OF 
THE MOST CARBON-EFFECTIVE 
OPTIONS FOR BELFAST

P
age 50



48 49

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

APPENDIX 2. LEAGUE TABLE 
OF THE MOST COST-EFFECTIVE 
OPTIONS FOR BELFAST

P
age 51



50 51

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

PLACE-BASED CLIMATE ACTION 
NETWORK (PCAN)

The Place-based Climate Action Network 
(PCAN) is about translating climate policy into 
action “on the ground” in our communities. 
The network commenced in January 2019 with 
the aim of establishing an agile, effective and 
sustainable network for climate action embedded 
in localities and based around partnerships with 
local authorities. Its objective is to build broader 
capacity to effect transformative change. 

PCAN is an ESRC-supported network that  
brings together the research community and 
decision-makers in the public, private and third 
sectors. It consists of five innovative platforms 
to facilitate two-way, multi-level engagement 
between researchers and stakeholders: three 
city-based climate commissions (in Leeds, 
Belfast and Edinburgh) and two theme-based 
platforms on adaptation and finance, with a 
business theme integrated into each  
climate commission.

Our vision is for PCAN to produce a replicable 
model that delivers climate policies on a global  
to local scale, facilitating and inspiring places 
across the UK, and this has started to take off: 
alongside the original PCAN climate commissions 
we are delighted to support new commissions 
that have established in places such as Lincoln,  
Surrey and Croydon, with ever more new 
commissions coming on stream across the UK. 

The five-year project is led by an experienced 
team of researchers with strong track records 
of engaging with public, private and third-sector 
decision-makers. PCAN builds on the policy 
connections, networking capacity and research 
strengths of its host institutions: Queen’s 
University Belfast, the University of Edinburgh, 
the University of Leeds and the London School  
of Economics and Political Science.

For more information, go to 
https://pcancities.org.uk or contact 
pcan@lse.ac.uk

A NET-ZERO CARBON ROADMAP FOR BELFAST

PARTNERSHIPS

P
age 52



Contact

pcan@lse.ac.uk

https://pcancities.org.uk Published November 2020

Page 53

http://pcan@lse.ac.uk
https://pcancities.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Presentation from Lisa-Dee Collery of the Shared Island Unit followed by Q&A
	3 Belfast Stories update including Geothermal Feasibility Study
	Appendix 1 Geothermal feasibility study executive summary

	4 Belfast Net Carbon Roadmap Report
	A Net-zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast Dec20
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	EXECUTIVE summary
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2. Our Approach
	(c). Setting Science-Based Carbon Reduction Targets 
	(d). Identifying and Evaluating Carbon Reduction Opportunities 
	(e). Aggregating Up to See the Bigger Picture
	(f). Developing Targets and Performance Indicators
	(g). Focusing on Key Sectors
	3. Developing a Baseline of Past, Present and Future Emissions for BELFAST
	4. Setting Science-based Carbon Reduction Targets for BELFAST

	5. Aggregating Up: The Bigger Picture for BELFAST
	6. Developing Targets and Performance Indicators
	7. Focussing on Key Sectors in BELFAST
	(a). Domestic Housing
	(b). Public & Commercial Buildings
	(c). Transport
	(d). Industry
	8. Innovative Stretch Measures in BELFAST
	9. Next Steps for BELFAST






Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		2921_PCAN_Belfast_A_INTER_SPREADS.pdf






		Report created by: 

		Mark Critchley


		Organization: 

		





 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.



		Needs manual check: 2


		Passed manually: 0


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 0


		Passed: 30


		Failed: 0





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Needs manual check		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Needs manual check		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top


